IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CHARLES TIMOTHY WEST

APPELLANT

VERSUS

NO. 2008-CA-01700

DEBORAH GAYLE THORNTON WEST

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF JONES COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT CAUSE NO. 94-0191

THE HONORABLE FRANKLIN C. MCKENZIE, JR., CHANCELLOR PRISIDING

BRIEF OF APPELLANT WEST ENTITIES

SULLIVAN & SULLIVAN, PLLC BOB SULLIVAN – MSB Attorney at Law P. O. 45 Laurel, MS 39441 Telephone (601) 428-1505 Facsimile (601) 426-3622

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CHARLES TIMOTHY WEST

APPELLANT

VERSUS

NO. 2008-CA-01700

DEBORAH GAYLE THORNTON WEST

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. The Chancellor erred in failing to void the provisions of the PSA transferring Tim's stock and partnership interest due to the shareholder and partnership restrictions on transfer agreements.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case, Course of Proceedings and Disposition Below

The Chancellor in this case awarded a judgment in favor of Debbie West against Tim West in the total sum of \$1,066,594.53. (CP 2072) (R.E. 19)

This case involves an appeal of the Chancellor's decision of issues on remand from the Supreme Court in *West v. West*, 891 So.2d 203 (Miss. 2004). Following remand of this case from the Supreme Court, Debbie filed her amended complaint for contempt and sued West Quality Food Services, Inc., West Leasing, West Family Leasing, West Brothers Leasing, and West Investments. (CP 903) Debbie alleged that Tim was in contempt for failing to pay alimony, failing to keep Debbie informed of financial affairs of the West entities, breaching the life insurance provisions of the PSA, and making fraudulent conveyances. (CP 903) (R.E. 114)

Tim filed his answer, defenses and counterclaim to the amended complaint on June 20, 2006. (CP 995) (R.E. 127) The West Entities entered their answer and defenses to Debbie's amended complaint on September 7, 2006. (CP 969) Tim filed his motion to bifurcate the trial requesting that the court determine which property was marital or non-marital. (CP 1019) Tim also filed a motion for summary judgment requesting that the court void the division of assets provision because of a restriction on transfer of Tim's interest as set forth in the West entities

¹The first West case decided by the Supreme Court will be referred to herein as West I.

²These companies hereinafter will be referred to as the West entities.

³Reference to (T1) are references to pages within the transcribed testimony prepared by the court reporter for *West I*; reference to (T2) are references to pages within the transcribed testimony prepared by court reporter for *West II*; references to (R.E.__) are references within the record excerpts; references to (Ex.__) are references to exhibits within the records; references to (CP__) are references to the clerk's papers.

bylaws and stock restriction agreements. (CP 1192) (R.E. 132) The court denied Tim's motion for summary judgment and denied his request to bifurcate the hearing. In overruling Tim's motion for summary judgment, the Chancellor held that Debbie owned a "contingent interest" in Tim's stock and partnership interest in the West entities. (T2 163-171)

On February 7, 2007, the Chancellor entered his order dismissing the West entities finding that there was no conspiracy to commit fraud or any fraudulent conveyance between the West Entities and Tim West. (CP 1716)

The West entities were no longer parties to this action and therefore did not participate further in the trial process. The West entities did, however file post trial motions which were denied.7. The Chancellor entered his final judgment on May 9, 2008. (R.E. 19) (CP 2072)

Both parties filed post trial motions for reconsideration, a new trial and amendments to findings of fact and conclusions of law. (R.E. 88) (CP 2138) The Chancellor entered his order denying all post trial motions on September 18, 2008. (CP 2310-2315) (R.E. 27-35)

Tim filed his notice of appeal on October 6, 2008 followed by Debbie's cross-notice of appeal. The West entities also filed their notice of appeal October 10, 2008.

The Chancellor held the following:

- 1. Certain loans made by West Quality to Tim and characterized as 123, 125, and 113 ledger account payments were loans and not income as asserted by Debbie.
- 2. Certain loans made to Tim West from West Quality⁴ and loaned from Tim to Coastal Express, Inc., were loans and not income to Tim as asserted by Debbie.
- 3. Tim was in contempt of court for his continued refusal to pay Debbie any portion of his distributions.
- 4. Tim was in contempt of court for failing to keep Debbie informed of the affairs of the West entities.
- 5. Tim breached his obligations to maintain life insurance policies as required by Article III (J) of the PSA.
- 6. Denied Tim's request to modify his alimony obligations.

- 7. Awarded Debbie attorney's fees.
- 8. Awarded pre-judgment interest on past due alimony.
- 9. Found that Tim did not breach the December 12, 1993 death benefit agreement.
- 10. Denied Debbie's claim to any interest in West Investments, LLC.
- 11. Awarded Tim child support from Debbie.
- 12. Awarded the West entities attorney's fees from Debbie. (R.E.19)

B. Statement of Facts

(The West entities adopts and incorporates the Statement of Facts of Appellant Charles Timothy West.)

Debbie and Tim West were married in Jones County, Mississippi, on July 28, 1979 and remained married until November 8, 1994. (CP 30) The parties signed a separation and property settlement agreement ("PSA") and the PSA was attached as Exhibit "A" to the Final Judgment of Divorce entered on November 11, 1994. (R.E. 98) During the marriage, the parties had three daughters. Two of the daughters are adults. (T2 901) The third child, Marcy, was 18 years old at the time the court entered its final judgment. (T2 901)

In 2000, Tim, in reliance upon advice of counsel, reduced his payments to Debbie because he and his attorneys believed he had overpaid alimony to Debbie. (T2 1014-1019) Debbie filed her first complaint for citation for contempt on June 12, 2000. West I was tried on April 10, 2001 and continued for four days. The Chancellor in West I ruled that the PSA was ambiguous, contained conflicting provisions, contained illegal escalation clauses and was devoid of a meeting of the minds and voided the PSA. The Chancellor did not rule on the other defenses raised by Tim to the complaint for contempt. (CP 66, 105) He did not address the validity of Tim's attempted transfer as violating the stock and partnership agreement between Tim and the West Entities. Debbie petitioned for interlocutory appeal and the Supreme Court granted Debbie's petition by order dated January 27, 2003.

⁴West Quality Food Services, Inc. will be referred to as West Quality.

The Supreme Court reversed the Chancellor, decided *West v. West*, 891 So.2d 203 (Miss. 2004) and remanded for the Chancellor to consider among other issues: (1) whether there was a material change in circumstances which clearly resulted in an inability to pay, justifying Tim's refusal to pay periodic alimony to Debbie, (2) whether under the property settlement agreement, Debbie was entitled to a portion of the \$411,000.00 in loans from West Quality to Tim, (3) whether Tim breached his obligation to Debbie under a pre-divorce death benefit agreement, and (4) whether Debbie was entitled to attorney's fees in the contempt action and for fees she incurred on appeal.

Following remand, Debbie filed her amended complaint suing the West Entities and raising more issues for the Chancellor to consider. (CP 903) (R.E. 114) Tim filed his answer and amended counter-claim against Debbie. (CP 995)

West I was decided on interlocutory appeal. The Chancellor in West I and the Supreme Court never ruled on Tim's defenses to Debbie's claims because he found the entire PSA void due to ambiguity.

Tim raised the following issues in West II that were not considered by the Supreme Court in West I:

- 1. The Chancellor should determine which property was marital and non-marital;
- 2. The restrictions on transfer of Tim's stock and partnership interest contained in the bylaws and partnership agreements voided the equitable lien and purported transfer by Tim of his interest in the West entities;
- 3. Distributions to Tim from the West entities should not be included in the alimony computation. The PSA does not mention the word "distributions."

The Chancellor refused to consider these issues raised by Tim because of his reliance on "the Law of the Case Doctrine." (R.E. 43-45) Tim contends that the law of the case doctrine is inapplicable and the Chancellor should have considered and ruled on these issues on the merits.

At trial, Debbie claimed the following relief:

- A. Loans characterized as account ledger 123, 125, and 113 on the books of West Quality and made to Tim were actually distribution income that should be shared with Debbie;
- B. Loans from West Quality to Tim and that Tim in turn loaned to Coastal Express, Inc. were actually distribution income that should be shared with Debbie;
- C. Tim was in contempt for failing to pay her one-half of all distributions and failing to provide her with financial information from the West entities;
- D. Failed to pay life insurance premiums;
- E. Breached the December 12, 1993 death benefit agreement;
- F. Judgment against Tim for past due alimony;
- G. Judgment against Tim for fraudulent conveyances to West Investments, LLC and for loans from West Quality to Tim;
- H. Attorney's fees and prejudgment interest.

At trial, Tim claimed the following relief:

- A. The provisions in the PSA whereby Tim attempted to convey his interest in the West Entities and place a lien on his stock and partnership interest are void in violation of the bylaws and partnership agreements of the West entities;
- B. The Chancellor should have bifurcated the hearing to determine marital versus non-marital property;
- C. Debbie is not entitled to distributions to Tim from the West entities because distributions were never mentioned in the PSA;
- D. Tim's alimony obligation should be modified and reduced to a fixed amount based upon a material change in circumstances;
- E. Debbie should pay child support for their child, Marcy;
- F. Debbie was in contempt for withdrawing Tim's cash value in the life insurance policies;
- G. Tim is not in contempt of court because he relied on advice of counsel and the Chancellor's voidance of the PSA in *West I*.

Tim's health condition materially declined after the divorce. Dr. Wood Hiatt, a psychiatrist, treated and examined Tim on several occasions. (Ex. 157) (Ex. 97) Dr. Hiatt's final diagnosis of Tim was major depressive disorder which is recurrent. (Ex. 157, P. 80-81) He described Tim's depression as chronic and a cyclical disorder. He opined that Tim's major depressive disorder was contributed in part by stress related to this litigation and that Tim had an impairment of earning capacity as a result of his condition. (Ex. 157, P. 81-82) Tim's health has progressively deteriorated and his inability to perform the functions of his job is evidenced by his

removal as general manger and director of the corporation. (Ex. 157, P. 83) Dr. Hiatt testified that Tim is not capable of performing the duties he did before as general manager. (Ex. 157, P. 84) He testified that Tim's chronic depression and anxiety results in part from the uncertainty of trying to figure out how much money he owes to Debbie each month. (Ex. 157, P. 87) He further testified that Tim's anxiety and depression will continue indefinitely into the future. (Ex. 157, P. 88-89) Tim will continue to incur medical expenses in the future. Dr. Hiatt's testimony was corroborated by Dr. Joseph Robert Danford, Jr., Tim's family physician. (T2 955-965) (Ex. 95) Dr. Danford diagnosed Tim with chronic hypertension, substance abuse being tobacco, alcohol, insomnia, generalized anxiety, and chronic depression. (T2 968) Dr. Danford's opinions are based upon his personal observations and treatment of Tim and his observation of Tim's depressed mood, diminished interest, sleep disturbance, fatigue, cognitive dysfunction, suicidal ideations, and psychomotor agitation. (T2 968-969)

Two psychiatrists at Pine Grove Recovery Center treated Tim for suicidal ideations. (Ex. 96) Tim was admitted for eight days to Pine Grove Recovery Center for suicidal ideation and chronic depression. Both psychiatrists at Pine Grove Recovery Center diagnosed Tim with major depressive disorder. (Ex. 96)

Debbie's own medical expert, Jessie Dees, a psychologist diagnosed Tim with having a mental illness. (T2 1332, 1334-1335) He agreed that Tim was experiencing a significant amount of anxiety that was directly related to his financial difficulty. Dr. Dees only saw Tim on one occasion for a medical evaluation for litigation purposes. (T2 1327-1328)

Dick West, president of West Entities, testified that Tim's health condition had deteriorated substantially since 2002. (T2 264-267) He verified that Tim was not capable of performing his duties adequately as general manager or director of the corporation. (T2 266-269) Tim testified that his health condition was good between 1994 and 2000. (T2 933-938)

His health started declining between 2001 and 2002. He testified that his medical condition affected the profitability of the company and the litigation adversely affected his relationship with his brothers and family members. (T2 931-938) He testified that when Debbie filed her lawsuit against the West Entities, he was unable to cope with the conflict between the family members. At the time of the trial, Tim was not doing anything at West Quality. His income with West Quality was paid to him out of charity from his family.

Tim was removed as director and manager of the corporation which resulted in Tim's loss of board fees in the sum of \$5,000.00 per month or an annual loss of \$60,000.00. (T2 267, 930-933) Tim was removed from the board because of his health condition and the conflict of interest created by Tim's breach of the stock agreement and the limited partnership agreement by executing the PSA. (T2 348)

In addition to Tim's loss of \$60,000.00 in board fees, he incurred a major reduction in distribution income from West Quality between 2000 and 2005. (T2 304-312) Dick West testified that West Quality paid the shareholders distributions prior to 2000. However, between the period of 2000 and 2005, very few cash distributions have been paid by West Quality to the shareholders. (T2 304-312) Dick West explained that the shareholders received few distributions between 2000 and 2005 because the KFC Franchise System was involved in litigation with KFC Corporation over territorial rights. (Ex. 102, Appendix B, Schedule 2) The cost of the litigation and a lawsuit settlement against KFC resulted in significant increases in capital expenditures for the West Entities. The West Entities have been required to spend millions of dollars in upgrades of the restaurant facilities. (T2 304-312) West Entities bought a corporate market in New Orleans involving eight (8) stores. Schwegmann's stores closed near some of those restaurants resulting in substantial losses at the restaurants. KFC changed their recipe for their chicken resulting in losses for the company. The West Entities suffered losses in

Hattiesburg as a result of poor management at the stores. The financial condition of the West Entities became so bad that in 2003, they were not in compliance with their covenants with the banks. (T2 304-312) Adding to the financial problems was Hurricane Katrina that hit the gulf coast on August 29, 2005. Forty-four of the sixty-four stores were closed for several days. The West Entities lost three of the stores which have not reopened. A substantial portion of the losses was not insured. West Entities had trouble making payments to the bank. Because of financial problems, the company refinanced its debt and lowered its payment which resulted in a huge penalty. (T2 304-312)

David Childress, Chief Financial Officer, for the West Entities corroborated Dick and Tim's testimony that the primary reason cash was not available between 2000 and 2005 was to fund construction projects that were mandated by the franchisor and because of the unforeseen problems related above. (T2 385-390, Ex. 155) Mandated upgrades of the West Entities facilities created a huge cash flow problem. (Ex. 155) (T2 385-390)

Tim's monthly expenses substantially exceed his monthly income. (Ex. 3) The parties changed custody of Marcy on April 12, 2001. (T2 901) Tim has been the sole supporter of Marcy since that time. (T2 902) Marcy's expenses substantially increased after April 12, 2001. (T2 902-905) (Ex. 145) Tim has paid for Marcy's private school tuition and all of her extracurricular activities. (T2 903 – 904) At the time of trial, she was attending cosmetology college at Jones Junior College. (T2 907) Tim's expenses increased and his income decreased. (Ex. 3, T2 910-912) Income that Tim received from Gerhsen Lehman Group had significantly decreased. (T2 909) Tim does not have the financial ability to pay the money that Debbie is

⁵Between 2003 and 2005 only West Leasing Co. paid distributions.

demanding that he owes. (T2 917-922) He depleted his savings to pay attorney's fees, expert witness fees, and cost of litigation. He has liquidated his personal property such as his motor home, Harley Davidson motorcycle, and primary residence. (T2 917-922) Tim does not have the financial resources to pay his attorney fees to defend him in this litigation. He liquidated all of his retirement accounts which included an IRA and 401(k) to pay his legal expenses. He sold all rental properties to pay his debts. (T2 917-922)

Debbie is in good health. (T2 1585) Debbie's expenses since the divorce have substantially decreased. At the time of the divorce, Debbie was granted primary custody of the parties' three minor children. Debbie has not supplied any financial support for Marcy. (T2 902)

Debbie's Rule 8.05 Financial Statement reflects that her adjusted gross income is \$7,300.00. (Ex. 86) However, she is currently receiving over \$5,000.00 per month in alimony payments. (Ex. 86) She also testified that she is capable of earning a net business income of \$60,000.00 per year as a realtor in addition to her alimony payments. (T2 1588) Debbie West's earning potential as a realtor together with her adjusted gross income is a material change in her income since the divorce judgment. (T2 1525-1533) At the time of the divorce, Debbie was not working outside the home and had no income. She had three minor children living with her and the only income she received between 1994 and 2002 was from Tim. (T2 1551-1556) She also testified that Tim's child support payment during that period of time was not sufficient to pay all the children's expenses. She paid extracurricular activity expenses for all the girls, bought them clothes, and paid other out-of-pocket expenses for the children. All of these expenses have been eliminated. (T2 1533–1556) While having primary custody of the children, she testified that she paid at least \$1,100.00 a month for the expenses for the children. (T2 1555-1556)

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