IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO. 2008-TS-01700

CHARLES TIMOTHY WEST, WEST QUALITY FOOD SERVICES, INC., COASTAL EXPRESS, INC., WEST LEASING COMPANY, WEST BROTHERS LEASING COMPANY, WEST FAMILY LEASING COMPANY and WEST INVESTMENTS, LLC

v.

DEBORAH GAYLE THORNTON WEST

Consolidated with: 2002-IA-01158-SCT

DEBORAH GAYLE THORNTON WEST

v.

CHARLES TIMOTHY WEST

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF JONES COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLEE/CROSS-APPELLANT

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

PATRICK F. McALLISTER, MSB WILLIFORD, McALLISTER & JACOBUS, LLP 303 Highland Park Cove, Suite A Ridgeland, MS 39157 (601) 991-2000

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

VI. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The chancellor correctly applied the law of the case doctrine because this case it involves the same parties, the same facts and the same issues. Tim raised the same issues in the first trial and offered identical exhibits in both trials in support of his claim. No new facts were presented by Tim.

The chancellor correctly denied Tim's request for a modification and held him in contempt. Tim failed to prove a change which resulted from after-arising circumstances, not reasonably anticipated at the time of the agreement. Tim's modification request was based upon his own bad faith actions. At trial, Tim admitted he had the ability to pay and abandoned inability to pay as a defense to the contempt claim. (T2.1261). The chancellor also correctly found that Tim continued his breach of the PSA by failing to provide Debbie with financial information and by failing to maintain insurance policies required by the PSA.

The chancellor properly awarded Debbie attorneys fees and interest on unpaid alimony required by the PSA since Tim was in contempt. Tim's claim regarding Debbie's ability to pay counsel is specious. Debbie's only income is from payments under the PSA. Tim's strategy throughout this matter has been to "bleed her dry" by forcing Debbie to use the limited funds she receives to pay counsel to protect her rights while having his own legal fees paid by West Quality. Interest accrues on each unpaid support payment at the legal rate of interest from the date each delinquent payment was due and the chancellor properly awarded interest on the unpaid alimony.

Tim holds legal title to Debbie's equitable interest in the West Entities. The chancellor erred in failing to find that Tim owed a fiduciary duty to Debbie, and that he breached his duty by granting liens to West Quality on property Debbie equitably owned without her consent. The chancellor erred in failing to impose a constructive trust on the stock and partnership interest in which Tim holds legal title, but which are equitably owned by Debbie. The chancellor should have imposed a constructive trust since Tim is holding legal title and is receiving the benefits derived from the legal title, while refusing to provide Debbie with the benefits of her equitably owned property.

The chancellor erred in characterizing Debbie's interest in stock and limited partnerships held by Tim as a "contingent interest." (T2.164, 168-69, 196). In *West I*, this Court held the PSA is unambiguous. The PSA states: "it is the intention of both parties, to make a present transfer to Wife of a one-half ($\frac{1}{2}$) vested equitable ownership interest in said properties as a division of martial (sic) assets, while married, and this Agreement constitutes an existing equitable lien to Wife of one-half ($\frac{1}{2}$) of said properties." (R.E. 15-16). This Court held Debbie was "entitled to equally share" Tim's stock and limited partnership interests in the West Entities. *West I* at ¶16, 17.

The chancellor erred in finding the "Coastal loans" and Tim's "113 account receivables" were loans rather than constructive distributions. Tim and his brothers control the West Entities; the amounts advanced was of significant magnitude, exceeding \$1,400,000; there was no limitation on the amounts advanced; there was no valid security given for the funds advanced; there was no set maturity date; there was no effort to force repayment; Tim was not in a position to repay the loans; and, there was no proof of substantial repayment by Tim other than by "journal entities" which Tim knew nothing about.

-9-

The chancellor erred in calculating the amount of past due alimony owed to Debbie. The chancellor found that since Tim's "113 account receivables" constituted a true loan, payments in the form of distributions which were used to reduce the balance of Tim's 113 account must be included in determining the alimony arrearage. However, the chancellor failed to include distributions used to reduce Tim's 113 account in determining the alimony arrearage. The chancellor's judgment should be reversed and rendered to increase the amount of past due alimony through December 31, 2005 from \$558,808 to \$806,099. The chancellor also erred in calculating past due alimony from January 1, 2006 through June 30, 2008. The chancellor should have found that Debbie was entitled to additional past-due alimony for that period in the amount of \$327,253, plus interest.

While the chancellor properly awarded Debbie attorneys fees, he erred in failing to order that the award of attorneys fees in the Final Judgment would bear interest from the date of the Judgment as provided by Miss. Code Ann. §75-17-7.

The chancellor correctly found that Tim breached the Death Benefit Agreement ("DBA") by removing Debbie as the sole beneficiary, but erred in holding Tim's breach of the DBA was moot. The DBA provided for a non-assignable death benefit to Tim's designated beneficiary. It does not provide for a unilateral termination by West Quality. Debbie had a vested ownership interest in the DBA which could not be changed by Tim or West Quality without her consent.

The chancellor erred in awarding child support payments to Tim retroactive to July 1, 2001. In his post-remand pleadings, Tim argued that the payments should be retroactive to December 2007. However, the Court's Judgment made the payments retroactive to July 1, 2001, since Tim, through attorney Robert Sullivan, who actually represents the West Entities and not Tim, filed a motion seeking modification of child support in July 2001. Tim's July 2001 claim for modification was abandoned, since Tim made no effort to prosecute or appeal his initial claim for support.

-10-

The chancellor erred in granting the West Entities motion to dismiss. In *West I*, \P 44, this Court held transfers from the West Entities to Tim may be fraudulent conveyances. The West Entities were proper defendants to Debbie's fraudulent conveyance claim. There is no legal basis for the chancellor's holding that a loan from a corporation to a shareholder cannot be a fraudulent conveyance as a matter of law.

The chancellor erred in awarding attorneys fees to the West Entities since the motion to dismiss was granted in error. Even if the chancellor correctly granted the motion to dismiss, Debbie had some hope of success in asserting a fraudulent conveyance claim against the West entities based upon *West I*, which held that the transfers at issue may have been fraudulent conveyances.

VII. LEGAL ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review.

This Court will not disturb the findings of a chancellor when supported by substantial evidence, unless the chancellor abused his discretion, was manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous or an erroneous legal standard was applied, *Sanderson v. Sanderson*, 824 So.2d 623, 625-626 (Miss. 2002). However, it will not hesitate to reverse should it find that the chancellor was manifestly wrong, abused its discretion, or applied an erroneous legal standard. *Brown v. Brown*, 817 So.2d 588, ¶6 (Miss. App.2002). Further, this Court applies a *de novo* standard of review regarding legal questions. *Wilburn v. Wilburn*, 991 So.2d 1185, 1190 (Miss. 2008).

B. The chancellor correctly applied the "law of the case" doctrine.

Tim and the West Entities² claim the chancellor erred in applying the law of the case doctrine regarding Debbie's interest in stock and limited partnership marital assets, and in finding that Debbie

²The West Entities filed their brief on June 1, 2009. The West Entities' brief essentially tracks and duplicates the arguments made by Tim in his principal brief on the law of the case and the failure of the chancellor to void a portion of the PSA. Debbie's brief and argument on those issues is in response to the briefs of both Tim and the West Entities.

was entitled to share in stock and limited partnership distributions paid to Tim. Tim makes three arguments: a portion of ¶17 in *West I* constituted dictum (App. 22-24³; App.WE. 12-20); the parties, facts and issues were different in *West II* (App. 24-27); and, application of the law of the case doctrine leads to "unjust results or manifest injustice." (App. 27-29).

The "law of the case" rests upon principles of res judicata. *Continental Turpentine and Rosin Co., et al. v. Gulf Naval Stores Co.*, 142 So.2d 200, 206 (Miss. 1962). Once a controlling decision is established, it is the law of the case between the same parties in the same case so long as there is a similarity of facts. *TXG Intrastate Pipeline Co. v. Grossnickle*, 716 So.2d 991, ¶97 (Miss. 1997).

The issues of what constituted the parties' marital assets and what Debbie was entitled to receive under the PSA were the critical issues resolved in *West I*. The PSA provides that Tim and Debbie agreed to "share equally" Tim's business and employment income and apportion the parties taxes in such a way that "each party will net the same amount." (A.R.E. 10-11).

The PSA states that Debbie "is entitled to and shall be vested with one-half (½) of all existing marital assets, including, but not necessarily limited to, stocks, limited partnerships and business assets." It further provides that "[Tim] acknowledges, and it is the intention of both parties, to make a present transfer to [Debbie] of a one-half (½) vested equitable ownership interest in said properties as a division of martial (sic) assets, while married, and this Agreement constitutes an existing equitable lien to [Debbie] of one-half (½) of said properties." (A.R.E. 15-16).

In *West I*, this Court carefully considered the PSA and held the provisions regarding alimony and division of marital assets meant exactly what the parties stated in their agreement, noting that "the general purpose of the agreement was for Tim to provide one-half of his various forms of income to Debbie." Regarding the division of marital property, this Court found "Debbie is entitled

³References to Tim's Brief are abbreviated as "App. ____." References to the West Entities Brief are abbreviated as "App.WE. ____."

to one-half of all existing marital assets, including, but not limited to, stocks, limited partnerships, and business assets." Finally, the Court specifically found that Debbie was entitled to share Tim's interest in the West Entities: "[t]he only remaining assets within the *parties' definition of marital assets* are Tim's interests in [the West Entities]. Pursuant to the terms of the [PSA], *Debbie is entitled to equally share these assets*..." West I, ¶16,17 (emphasis added).

This holding is the central ruling in *West I* and is obviously not dictum, but rather, the unanimous decision of this Court in *West I*. On remand, the chancellor correctly recognized the parties definition of their marital assets was binding on the parties:

THE COURT: Well, it doesn't matter if they were marital assets or not at pre-divorce. What matters is what the agreement says. And if they agreed on a division of assets which were non-marital, they have a perfect right to contract to do that. And I don't think I can go behind the agreement and start saying, well, wait a minute, his interest in West Quality Foods was non-marital or this portion of it was non-marital. Because by virtue of this contract, it became marital is what I'm saying. I don't think I can go behind the contract as to specific assets mentioned in this contract (T2.17)

The parties, facts and issues in *West I* are the same as in *West II*. The parties at trial were the same since the West Entities were dismissed before trial commenced in *West II*. Even if the West Entities remained as defendants in *West II*, it would only be for purposes of determining the validity of Debbie's fraudulent conveyance claim. The facts were the same. Tim's testimony and exhibits regarding his marital property claim are virtually identical. (*compare*, T1.Exs. 101-105,108 -109 with T2.Exs. 128 - 132, 136; *compare*, T1. 406-07 with T2.1054-57). Tim's testimony regarding his distribution claim was also virtually identical. (Compare, T1404-05 with T2.1065-66). These were the primary issues resolved in *West I*.

Tim's claim regarding the additional matters litigated by the parties in *West II* misses the mark completely. The chancellor considered additional issues in *West II*. However, Tim is not complaining about the new issues raised in *West II*, but the effect of this Court's ruling in *West I*

regarding how marital assets were determined and his claim regarding business income in form of distributions. Those issues were decided in *West I* and are controlled by the law of the case.

Tim and the West Entities also claim that application of the law of the case would be "manifestly unjust." In *Brewer v. Browning*, 115 Miss. 358, 364, 76 So. 267, 269 (1917), this Court held that it may reverse a prior decision on a second appeal if the first decision was "manifestly wrong." However, there is nothing in *West I* that is "manifestly wrong."

Tim's claims regarding the tax effect of the PSA was considered and rejected in *West I*, ¶25-27. Tim's argument for the "unjust" application of the law of the case is based on the purported difficulty in calculating the amount due under the PSA. The PSA provides the parties will receive the same net income after taxes and obligated them to "cooperate fully in achieving that stated goal." Debbie's expert calculated the alimony arrearage based on Tim's tax returns and K-1s, which are subject to ready verification. (T2. 563-566; T2Ex.101A and 101B). In contrast, Tim's experts used an analysis intended to minimize the sums due Debbie by characterizing distributions as "cash distributions" "non-cash distributions", "tax distributions" and "journal entries." (T2. 552, 811-817). The characterization of Tim's distributions as reflected on his K-1s as something other than distributions is an issue to be considered by this Court in determining whether the chancellor awarded the correct amount of past due alimony to Debbie as discussed below. It is not a basis for finding that application of the law of the case doctrine would be manifestly wrong.

This Court held that the PSA was "neither procedurally nor substantively unconscionable." *West I*, ¶27. Tim's claim that *West I* was "manifestly unjust" is simply part of his continuing refusal to accept the ruling in *West I*. Changing the argument from "the PSA is unconscionable" to "the PSA is manifestly unjust," does not alter the outcome or this Court's ruling in *West I*. 1. Tim's claim that Debbie is not entitled to a share of Tim's distributions under the PSA is barred under the law of the case.

Tim claims the PSA was never intended to reach distributions from the West Entities. This Court has already determined that "the general purpose of the agreement was for Tim to provide onehalf of his various forms of income" West I, ¶16 and that Tim "agreed to give Debbie 50% of his diverse forms of income" West I, ¶25. This Court held that Tim breached the PSA when he unilaterally stopped paying Debbie her share of distributions in 2000, West I, ¶¶2, 3.

Debbie received her share of business distributions from the parties' divorce in 1994 until Tim stopped paying Debbie business distributions in 2000. (T1.Ex.38-40, 49, 58, 67,78; T2. Exs. 99,118,119,121124,153). In response to Tim's arguments in *West I* that he never intended Debbie to receive any portion of distributions, this Court held:

Nothing demonstrates the overall clarity of Tim and Debbie's agreement more plainly than the simple fact that they managed to comply with the agreed property settlement agreement for over five years before Tim decided he would no longer respect the agreement. However vague, unintelligible, and contrary to his original intent Tim may now try to cast the substantive provisions of the property settlement agreement, the extrinsic evidence of his compliance with the provisions for nearly a decade eviscerates this argument of any credibility. *West I*, ¶18.

Tim's claim is barred by the law of the case doctrine. Tim's failure to accept the decision in *West I* is best exemplified by his claim that Debbie owes him \$257,830.00 in overpayment of alimony based on a "scenario" proposed by James Koerber. (App. 31). What Tim fails to mention is that Koerber testified that a calculation based on how the parties complied with the agreement for five years, as addressed in *West I*, would have to include Tim's distributions. (T2.782).

2. Tim's claim regarding the parties' definition of marital assets is barred by the law of the case doctrine.

Tim also attempts to re-litigate what constituted marital assets. (App. 35-36). As discussed above, that issue was decided in *West I*, ¶16,17. The chancellor recognized the same point on

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